IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

No. 17-1300
District Court of Polk County Case No. CVCV053114

BANILLA GAMES, INC.,
Plaintiffs/Appellants,
vs.
IOWA DEPARTMENT OF INSPECTIONS AND APPEALS,
Defendants/Appellees

On Appeal from Iowa District Court for Polk County,
THE HONORABLE MARY PAT GUNDERSON, District Court Judge

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

LOCHER PAVELKA DOSTAL BRADY & HAMMES, LLC

421 West Broadway, Suite 401
Council Bluffs, Iowa 51503

and

200 The Omaha Club
2002 Douglas St.
Omaha, Nebraska 68102

P: (402) 898-7000

F: (402) 898-7130

Thomas M. Locher, AT0010384

Amy M. Locher, AT0010990

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

tlocher@lpdbhlaw.com

amylocher@lpdbhlaw.com

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Department of Inspections and Appeals' ("DIA") and District Court's decisions should be reversed pursuant to Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c) because they are based upon erroneous interpretations of Iowa Code § 99B.53(1).
2. Whether the DIA's and District Court's decisions should be reversed pursuant to Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c) because they are based upon erroneous interpretations of the term "outcome" for purposes of § 99B.53(1).
3. Whether the DIA's and District Court's decisions should be reversed pursuant to Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c) because they are based upon erroneous interpretations of the term "knowledge" for purposes of § 99B.53(1).
4. Whether the DIA's and District Court's decisions be reversed pursuant to Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(n) because the DIA's ruling was unreasonable, arbitrary, and an abuse of discretion and the District Court failed to so find.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure § 6.1101(2)(c) because it presents a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa. This appeal involves interpretation of Iowa Code § 99B.53(1), specifically the words “outcome” and “knowledge.” The Iowa Supreme Court has not interpreted § 99B.53(1) or the words “outcome” or “knowledge” as used therein, nor has the Iowa Court of Appeals in any published case. Determination of the issue will have implications for all electrical and mechanical amusement devices to be deployed for operation in the State of Iowa and whether they are required to comply with the registration provisions of Iowa Code § 99B.53.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant brings this action pursuant to Chapter 17A.19 of the Iowa Administrative Procedure Act for review of final agency action of the DIA set forth in the Ruling on Amended Petition for Declaratory Order (hereinafter “DIA Ruling”) dated October 31, 2016, and the Iowa District Court of Polk County’s Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review (hereinafter “District Court Ruling”), dated June 30, 2017.

Appellant filed a Petition for Declaratory Order and supporting Brief with the DIA on March 4, 2016. (Appendix at 15). Appellant filed an

Amended Petition for Declaratory Order and Amended Brief in Support on April 15, 2016. (Appendix at 116). In its Amended Petition, Appellant sought a declaration that, among other things, the outcomes of its devices named “Superior Skill 1” and “Superior Skill 2” are primarily determined by the skill or knowledge of the operator and, therefore, the devices are not subject to the registration provisions set forth in Iowa Code § 99B.5(1). (Appendix at 116).

The DIA requested clarification (Appendix at 222). Appellant provided a written response to the DIA’s questions. (Appendix at 224). The DIA sent written notice to other potentially interested parties pursuant to Iowa Code § 17A.9(3). (Appendix at 227).

On July 8, 2016, the parties met via videoconferencing. (Appendix at 229). Appellant demonstrated and discussed the games at issue. *Id.* Appellant provided additional information and clarification orally in response to the DIA’s questions. *Id.*

On October 31, 2016, the DIA issued its ruling denying the relief requested by Appellant. (Appendix at 228). The DIA ruled, *inter alia*, the outcomes of the Superior Skill 1 and Superior Skill 2 devices are not primarily determined by the skill or knowledge of the operator and,

therefore, the devices must be registered pursuant to Iowa Code §§ 99B.53 and 99B.56.

Appellant appealed the DIA's Ruling to the Iowa District Court for Polk County (Appendix at 6). On July 18, 2017, the District Court issued its Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review. (Appendix at 242). The District Court affirmed the DIA's decision, finding that the Appellant had not carried its burden of persuasion in establishing the agency action was erroneous, that there were errors of law in the DIA's interpretation of the statute at issue, and that the application of law to fact was illogical, irrational, or wholly unjustifiable. Appellant timely appealed to this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Petitioner Banilla Games, Inc. is a North Carolina corporation located in North Carolina. (Appendix at 15 ¶ 1, 242).
2. Petitioner manufactures electronic game devices and sells them in several jurisdictions, including Georgia and Iowa. (Appendix at 15 ¶ 2).
3. Petitioner designed and developed two electronic devices named "Superior Skill 1" and "Superior Skill 2." (Appendix at 15 ¶ 3, 242).
4. Each Superior Skill 1 and Superior Skill 2 device is a single machine that offers different game themes that a player may select to play. (Appendix at 15 ¶ 4, 141, 181, 242–43).

5. Each Superior Skill 1 and Superior Skill 2 device contains a touch screen used to navigate throughout the terminal. (Appendix at 16 ¶ 5, 142, 182).
6. Each touch screen displays visual meters indicating the player's credits, the previous outcome, and the "Prize Viewer," which indicates the future outcome of the next game(s) available to be played. (Appendix at 16 ¶ 7, 142, 182).
7. Each Superior Skill 1 and Superior Skill 2 device features a bill acceptor located at the front of the cabinet into which players may insert U.S. notes of varying denominations. (Appendix at 16 ¶ 6, 142, 182, 243).
8. Bills inserted are displayed on the device screen as "Credits" available for play, where one Credit equals one cent. (Appendix at 20, 142, 182, 243).
9. The devices cannot and do not award cash. (Appendix at 16 ¶ 8, 142, 182).
10. The devices may be configured to either print out a redeemable voucher for a maximum of fifty dollars in value or dispense a ticket, worth up to fifty dollars that can be redeemed for merchandise on the premises where the device is located. (Appendix at 16 ¶ 9, 150, 190).

11. If configured to dispense tickets, the device will not operate without a supply of tickets present in the ticket dispenser. (Appendix at 16 ¶ 10, 150, 190).
12. The devices do not possess a “knock-off” switch to permit the release of free games nor do the devices permit the player to “double-up” or “raise.” (Appendix at 16 ¶¶ 11– 12, 150–151, 190).
13. The devices do not allow the play of poker, black jack, or keno. (Appendix at 17 ¶ 14, 151, 231).
14. The devices do not award free games and, thus, do not feature a meter to record the number of free games awarded. (Appendix at 17 ¶ 13, 151, 190).
15. The devices are not designed, and cannot be adapted, to enable a person to increase the chances of winning free games, portions of games, or anything else by paying more than ordinarily required to play the game. (Appendix at 17 ¶ 15, 151, 177).
16. Game outcomes that incorporate a visual simulation of free game play are merely providing an entertaining means to display the predetermined prize value to the player, based upon a successful skill result, because no free games may be released from the game. (Appendix at 17 ¶ 13, 151, 190).

17. The Superior Skill 1 device offers the following five different game themes: Bathtime Bucks, Fruity Sevens, Searing Sevens, Snake Eyes, and Wheel Deal. (Appendix at 18, 141).
18. The Superior Skill 2 device offers the following five different game themes: Spooky's Loot, Mega Money Reel, Lucky Striker, Major Cash, and Pedro's Hot Tamales. (Appendix at 18, 181).
19. Each game theme in both Superior Skill 1 and Superior Skill 2 has twelve different play levels, including 25, 50, 75, 100, 150, 200, 250, 300, 400, 500, 1000, and 2000. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182). The play level determines the quantity of credits expended. (Appendix at 144, 183).
20. Fruity Sevens, Snake Eyes, Searing Sevens, Lucky Striker, Major Cash, and Pedro's Hot Tamales are traditional "nudge" style games. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182).
21. In each "nudge" style game, three electronic reels are displayed which spin when the "PLAY" button is pressed and then stop. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182). The reels may be stopped immediately if the player presses the "STOP" button. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182).
22. After the reels in the "nudge" style games stop spinning, the player must determine first whether a potential winning combination of two or more icons is present. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182). The player then must decide

which reel to nudge, and whether to nudge it up or down, in order to complete a winning pattern. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182). These decisions and actions by the player must be completed within the allotted time limit. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182).

23. The player cannot solve any nudge puzzle and win a prize without the correct skill interaction within the limited time. (Appendix at 20, 142, 182).

24. The themes Bathtime Bucks, Wheel Deal, Spooky's Loot, and Mega Money Reel are all "hot swap" style games. (Appendix at 20, 142, 182).

25. Each "hot swap" style game consists of five electronic reels which spin when the "PLAY" button is pressed and then stop. (Appendix at 20, 142, 182). Or, the reels may be stopped immediately if the player presses the "STOP" button. (Appendix at 20, 142, 182).

26. When the reels in the "hot swap" style game stop spinning, the player then must determine whether, after the spin, a winning combination of icons is present lacking one icon needed to complete the pattern. (Appendix at 20, 142, 182). After making that determination, the player must decide which icon to pick from a variety of icons to not only complete the winning pattern, but also to do so using the highest value

icon. (Appendix at 20, 142, 182). All of this must be completed within the allotted time limit. (Appendix at 20, 142, 182).

27. Each game theme includes a “Rules” feature. (Appendix at 143, 183).

Activating the Rules feature within a game theme produces a screen which furnishes explanations for the active game theme. (Appendix at 143, 183). For hot swap game themes, the Rules feature also displays pay tables. (Appendix at 143, 183).

28. On each device, game play begins with the player selecting a game theme and play level. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182). The player may change the play level at any time prior to engaging in game play. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182).

29. Game play is initiated by pressing the “PLAY” icon on the video screen or by pressing the “PLAY” button on the cabinet’s exterior. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182).

30. Every game play offers the player the opportunity to win a prize of at least \$.01. (Appendix at 142, 182).

31. While a winning combination is not available on every play, for each game played, at the time that the player is given the option to nudge or swap (depending upon the game theme chosen), the game offers the

player the option to “Take a Penny,” which will simply award the player \$.01 and end the game. (Appendix at 142, 182, 185).

32. All prizes won are displayed as “Win” and added to the “Balance” of credits available for additional game play or for immediate redemption. (Appendix at 143, 183).

33. The player may redeem their Balance after each game play by pressing the “Ticket Button.” (Appendix at 143, 183, 243). The printed ticket may be presented to the local venue for redemption. (Appendix at 143, 183).

34. The player is not required to exhaust all funds at once or on the same game theme. (Appendix at 143, 183).

35. Each Superior Skill 1 and Superior Skill 2 device is a standalone device that operates independently of other Superior Skill 1 and Superior Skill 2 devices. (Appendix at 143, 183).

36. Each Superior Skill 1 and Superior Skill 2 device has its own dedicated pools of outcomes. (Appendix at 143, 183).

37. Each play level for each game theme has a discrete pool of outcomes presented sequentially to the player. (Appendix at 143, 183, 243). The first outcome from the sequential, finite pool is pre-determined. (Appendix at 143, 183). Game outcomes will be presented sequentially thereafter. (Appendix at 143, 1833). When the last game outcome is

reached, the next outcome presented will be the first from the pool, followed by the second, and so on sequentially through the pool. (Appendix at 143, 183).

38. In the Superior Skill 1 device, each play level in the Fruity Sevens and Wheel Deal game themes contains 75,000 outcomes. (Appendix at 143).

Each play level in the Bathtime Bucks, Searing Sevens, and Snake Eyes game themes contains 100,000 outcomes. (Appendix at 183).

39. In the Superior Skill 2 device, each play level in the Spooky's Loot, Mega Money Wheel, Lucky Striker, and Major Cash game themes contains 75,000 outcomes. (Appendix at 143). Each play level in the Pedro's Hot Tamales game theme contains 100,000 game outcomes. (Appendix at 183).

40. Each device contains a "Prize Viewer" feature which allows the player to view the upcoming game outcomes. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182, 243).

41. The Prize Viewer is activated by pressing the "Prize Viewer" icon on the video screen. (Appendix at 19, 142, 182, 243).

42. The Prize Viewer may be activated at any time prior to the initiation of the game. (Appendix at 19, 243).

43. No payment or purchase is required to use the Prize Viewer. (Appendix at 19, 143–44, 182).

44.The Prize Viewer is available in each game theme on both devices.
(Appendix at 19, 142, 182).

45.If a player chooses not to use the Prize Viewer, the preview for the upcoming game outcome is not displayed and the player may proceed to play the game without knowing the game outcome in advance.
(Appendix at 19, 142, 182).

46.Both devices may be configured so that, if the player plays every one of the 75,000 or 100,000 games within a game theme and play level, and further correctly performs the skill task on each such play, the game will award prizes totaling 92%, 94%, 96%, or 98% of the amount expended.
(Appendix at 154, 194, 225, 243).

47.Nick Farley & Associates, Inc. (hereinafter “Farley”) examined the Superior Skill 1 device on behalf of Appellant for the benefit of the DIA.
(Appendix at 141).

48.On the question of whether the outcome of the Superior Skill 1 device is primarily determined by the skill or knowledge of the operator, Farley concluded:

[O]n each play of each of the games on *Superior Skill 1*, the outcome is primarily determined by the skill or knowledge of [the] player.

On each play of each game, the player may view the upcoming prize outcome. Therefore, on that play of the game, the player knows with certainty which prize, if any, is available. Thus, on that play of the game, chance does not play a role. Then, the player must perform the skill task in order to win that prize outcome.

On each of the games on *Superior Skill 1*, the player may not win a prize without correctly discerning a pattern and completing that pattern correctly.

The *Superior Skill 1* reviewed contains a skill task which requires the patron to evaluate the puzzle to recognize the best winning game outcome and select the appropriate symbol to swap, or the correct reel and direction to nudge that will align three (3) (or more) like symbol combinations on the prize line. It is our opinion that the task that is required by the *Superior Skill 1* can be mastered by a reasonable person.

[T]his system is designed to provide the player with a method to view upcoming game outcomes. At any given time the player may preview the upcoming game outcomes. No payment or purchase is required for the player to exercise the ability to cause the electronic system to disclose the upcoming game outcomes for the game theme and “Play Amount” selected. The game themes offered on the system contain a skill task. The player must participate in the skill task in order to receive a prize. The game themes offered on the system are such that the outcome of each play of the game is determined by the skill or knowledge of the player.

(Appendix at 151–53).

49. Farley also examined the Superior Skill 2 device on behalf of Petitioner for the benefit of the DIA. (Appendix at 181).

50. On the question of whether the outcome of the Superior Skill 2 device is primarily determined by the skill or knowledge of the operator, Farley concluded:

[O]n each play of each of the games on *Superior Skill 2*, the outcome is primarily determined by the skill or knowledge of [the] player.

On each play of each game, the player may view the upcoming prize outcome. Therefore, on that play of the game, the player knows with certainty which prize, if any, is available. Thus, on that play of the game, chance does not play a role. Then, the player must perform the skill task in order to win that prize outcome. On each of the games on *Superior Skill 2*, the player may not win a prize without correctly discerning a pattern and completing that pattern correctly.

The *Superior Skill 2* reviewed contains a skill task which requires the patron to evaluate the puzzle to recognize the best winning game outcome and select the appropriate symbol to swap, or the correct reel and direction to nudge that will align three (3) (or more) like symbol combinations on the prize line. It is our opinion that the task that is required by the *Superior Skill 2* can be mastered by a reasonable person.

[T]his system is designed to provide the player with a method to view upcoming game outcomes. At any given time the player may preview the upcoming game outcomes. No payment or

purchase is required for the player to exercise the ability to cause the electronic system to disclose the upcoming game outcomes for the game theme and “Play Amount” selected. The game themes offered on the system contain a skill task. The player must participate in the skill task in order to receive a prize. The game themes offered on the system are such that the outcome of each play of the game is determined by the skill or knowledge of the player.

(Appendix at 191–93).

51. Neither Superior Skill 1 nor Superior Skill 2 uses a random number generator. (Appendix at 224).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Iowa Supreme Court reviews the Polk County District Court’s decision for correction of errors at law. Iowa R. App. P. § 6.907; *State v. Stoneking*, 379 N.W.2d 352, 353–54 (Iowa 1985) (cases involving statutory interpretation are reviewed for errors at law).

Judicial review of agency action is governed by Iowa Code § 17A.19(10). (District Court Ruling at 4); *Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm’n*, 784 N.W.2d 8, 10 (Iowa 2010); *Beier Glass Co. v. Brundige*, 329 N.W.2d 280, 282 (Iowa 1983).

Iowa Code § 17A.19 provides:

10. The court may affirm the agency action or remand to the agency for further proceedings. The court shall reverse, modify, or grant other appropriate relief from agency action if it determines that substantial rights of the person seeking judicial relief have been prejudiced because the agency action is any of the following:

c. Based upon an erroneous interpretation of a provision of law whose interpretation has not clearly been vested by a provision of law in the discretion of the agency.

Iowa Code § 17A.19. A reviewing court may grant relief if the agency action has prejudiced the substantial rights of the petitioner and if the agency action meets one of the criteria contained in § 17A.19(10). *Renda*, 784 N.W.2d at 10. An appellate court applies the standards of § 17A.19(10) to determine if it reaches the same results as the district court. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

Iowa Code § 99B.53 regulates registration of electrical or mechanical amusement devices. Section 99B.53 provides:

In addition to the requirements of section 99B.52, an electrical or mechanical amusement device in operation or distributed in

this state that awards a prize where the outcome is not primarily determined by skill or knowledge of the operator shall be registered by the department as provided in this section.

Iowa Code § 99B.53(1). The Superior Skill I and Superior Skill II devices allow the play of games in which the outcome is primarily determined by the skill or knowledge of the operator. Thus, the Superior Skill I and Superior Skill II devices are not required to be registered by the DIA under Iowa Code § 99B.53. Requiring registration affects a substantial right of the Appellant in selling its devices for use in the State of Iowa when no registration should be required. The DIA and District Court erred in holding the registration requirement applies.

At issue is the phrase “where the outcome is not primarily determined by skill or knowledge of the operator.” The DIA and District Court interpreted the words “outcome” and “knowledge” as used in § 99B.53 in a manner contrary to the rules of statutory construction and applied them in a manner inconsistent with the words’ plain meanings. Thus, the DIA and District Court’s decisions should be reversed pursuant to Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c).

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