**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**No. 17-1300**

---

**BANILLA GAMES, INC.,**

**Appellant,**

**vs.**

**IOWA DEPARTMENT OF INSPECTIONS & APPEALS,**

**Appellee.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY  
HONORABLE MARY PAT GUNDERSON, JUDGE**

---

**APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF  
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

---

**THOMAS J. MILLER  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA**

**DAVID M. RANSCHT  
JOHN R. LUNDQUIST  
Assistant Attorneys General  
Department of Justice  
Licensing & Administrative Law Division  
Hoover State Office Building, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor  
1305 E. Walnut St.  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
Ph: (515) 281-7175  
Fax: (515) 281-4209

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE SUPERIOR SKILL DEVICES’ OUTCOME IS NOT PRIMARILY DETERMINED BY PLAYER SKILL OR KNOWLEDGE.**

Error Preservation: Banilla Games does not state how it preserved error. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1). Nonetheless, it preserved error on three contentions: whether DIA erroneously interpreted chapter 99B; whether DIA’s application of law to fact was irrational, illogical, and wholly unjustifiable; and whether DIA acted unreasonably, arbitrarily, or capriciously, or abused its discretion. (Dist. Ct. Ruling at 14–15, App. 255–56.) *See* Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c), (l)–(n). Because the district court ruled on them, Banilla Games has preserved error on those three contentions, but only those three.

Standard of Review: This case arises from other agency action. *See Allegre v. Iowa State Bd. of Regents*, 349 N.W.2d 112, 114 (Iowa 1984)

(establishing that “other agency action” is a residual category). Accordingly, the Court’s review “turns on errors of law or the presence of unreasonable, arbitrary, or capricious action.” *Sindlinger v. Iowa State Bd. of Regents*, 503 N.W.2d 387, 390 (Iowa 1993).

With respect to the errors at law prong, DIA asserted below that it is entitled to *Renda* deference because DIA must necessarily interpret chapter 99B in carrying out its statutory duties and because the word “outcome” has a specialized meaning in the context of regulating amusement devices. *See Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm’n*, 784 N.W.2d 8, 14 (Iowa 2010) (noting an agency may have interpretive authority “when the statutory provision being interpreted is a substantive term within the [agency’s] special expertise”). The district court did not grant deference but concluded that regardless, DIA’s interpretation of section 99B.53 is correct. (Dist. Ct. Ruling at 4, 17; App. 245, 258.)

This Court has rarely granted deference to agencies’ statutory interpretation after *Renda*. *See, e.g., Irving v. Emp’t Appeal Bd.*, 883 N.W.2d 179, 185 (Iowa 2016); *SZ Enters., LLC v. Iowa Utils. Bd.*, 850 N.W.2d 441, 451–52 (Iowa 2014); *Gartner v. Iowa Dep’t of Pub. Health*, 830 N.W.2d 335, 343 (Iowa 2013). And even before *Renda*, the court of



appeals granted DIA “only limited deference in matters of law, including statutory interpretation.” *H & Z Vending v. Iowa Dep’t of Inspections & Appeals*, 593 N.W.2d 168, 170 (Iowa Ct. App. 1999). Thus, the Court should reach the question of deference only if it first concludes DIA’s interpretation of section 99B.53 is legally erroneous. *See Myria Holdings Inc. v. Iowa Dep’t of Revenue*, 892 N.W.2d 343, 347 (Iowa 2017) (declining to reach the deference question because the agency’s interpretation of a statute was correct).

With respect to the grounds other than DIA’s interpretation of section 99B.53(1), Banilla Games bears a heavy burden. To demonstrate DIA acted unreasonably or abused its discretion, Banilla Games must show DIA took “action in the face of evidence as to which there is no room for a difference of opinion among reasonable minds.” *Arora v. Iowa Bd. of Med. Exam’rs*, 564 N.W.2d 4, 7 (Iowa 1997); *see also Sioux City Cmty. Sch. Dist. v. Iowa Dep’t of Educ.*, 659 N.W.2d 563, 566 (Iowa 2003) (“An abuse of discretion is synonymous with unreasonableness.”). Notably, this Court’s inquiry is not whether DIA “could easily have reached the opposite conclusion” (Banilla Games Br. at 28), but instead whether the determination DIA made was reasonable. *Cf. Neal v. Annett Holdings, Inc.*, 814 N.W.2d 512, 525

(Iowa 2012) (reminding readers that when a court reviews agency action, the appellate inquiry is not whether the agency could have reached a different conclusion, but whether the conclusion reached should be affirmed).

Argument: Banilla Games raises three issues: DIA’s statutory interpretation, DIA’s application of law to fact, and whether DIA’s action was otherwise arbitrary, unreasonable, or an abuse of discretion. As the district court noted, resolving the first actually resolves all three; if DIA correctly interpreted chapter 99B, its application of law to fact was not illogical or irrational. *Cf. AOL LLC v. Iowa Dep’t of Revenue*, 771 N.W.2d 404, 409–10 (Iowa 2009) (finding an illogical and irrational application of law to fact because the agency utilized the wrong legal standard). And if DIA committed no legal error, no abuse of discretion occurred either. (Dist. Ct. Ruling at 14–15, App. 255–56.) *Cf. Willard v. State*, 893 N.W.2d 52, 58 (Iowa 2017) (noting an erroneous application of law constitutes an abuse of discretion).

This case hones in on several words within section 99B.53—but the most significant one is “primarily.” That word establishes a dominant factor test for measuring chance against skill or knowledge. Applying the dominant factor test demonstrates that DIA’s interpretation of section

99B.53(1) is correct, because under any reasonable definition of “outcome,” the outcome is not *primarily* determined by skill or knowledge. In other words, under section 99B.53, skill or knowledge must actually affect the result, and here, despite the devices’ name, neither skill nor knowledge affects the outcome of any Superior Skill game more than chance does. *See State v. Wiley*, 232 Iowa 443, 449, 3 N.W.2d 620, 624 (1942) (“[C]ourts have, in general, looked behind the name . . . of the device to ascertain its true character.”). Instead, skill has only minimal effect, and knowledge has no effect whatsoever. Banilla Games must register its Superior Skill devices with DIA.

**A. The word “primarily” establishes a dominant factor test for measuring chance against skill or knowledge in the amusement device context.**

Section 99B.53(1) requires registration if the outcome of an amusement device “is not primarily determined by skill or knowledge” as opposed to chance. Iowa Code § 99B.53(1). The word “primarily” is the litmus test for determining whether the registration requirement applies. *See D2 Enters.*, 2008 WL 373637, at \*1–2. In administering that litmus test and measuring chance against skill or knowledge, courts generally use one of two tests:

(1) the pure chance doctrine, under which a scheme is considered [gambling] when a person’s judgment plays no part in the selection and award of the prize, [or] (2) the dominant factor doctrine, under which a scheme constitutes [gambling] where chance dominates the distribution of prizes, even though such a distribution is affected to some degree by the exercise of skill or judgment. Most jurisdictions favor the dominant factor doctrine.

*Morrow v. State*, 511 P.2d 127, 129 (Alaska 1973); *see also* Anthony N. Cabot et al., *Alex Rodriguez, a Monkey, and the Game of Scrabble: The Hazard of Using Illogic to Define the Legality of Games of Mixed Skill and Chance*, 57 Drake L. Rev. 383, 390–93 (2009) [hereinafter Cabot et al.] (referring to both tests by slightly different names but noting that “[t]he predominance test, also known as the dominant factor test, is the prevailing test when assessing the existence of . . . chance”).

The word “primarily” in section 99B.53 establishes a dominant factor test in this context. “[T]he threshold for predominance is the point at which either skill or chance crosses the 50% mark.” Cabot et al., 57 Drake L. Rev. at 391–92. That formulation is consistent both with dictionary definitions of “primary” and with caselaw analyzing the word “primarily” or one of its variants. *See, e.g., Iowa Ag Constr. Co. v. Iowa State Bd. of Tax Review*, 723 N.W.2d 167, 176 (Iowa 2006) (mentioning a rule that defined primary use as more than fifty percent of the time); *Remer v. Bd. of Med. Exam’rs*,

576 N.W.2d 598 (Iowa 1998) (utilizing dictionary definitions of “primarily” that include “fundamentally” and “principally”); *Smith v. Smithway Motor Xpress, Inc.*, 464 N.W.2d 682, 686 (Iowa 1990) (equating predominant and primary when evaluating factors bearing on an employment decision); *Black’s Law Dictionary* at 1383–84 (10th ed. 2014) (listing many legal terms using the word “primary” that describe the item as being the chief consideration or the main reason).

Under the dominant factor test, a game is not primarily skill-based “merely ‘because its result may be affected to some slight extent by the exercise of judgment.’ If the result . . . depends, in the end, on chance, then skill does not predominate.” J. Royce Fichtner, *Carnival Games: Walking the Line Between Illegal Gambling and Amusement*, 60 Drake L. Rev. 41, 50 (2011) [hereinafter Fichtner] (quoting *People ex rel. Ellison v. Lavin*, 71 N.E. 753, 755 (N.Y. 1904)). And the Court must be careful. “For some games, skill *appears* to control the outcome, but upon closer inspection, the amount of skill required is minimal and the game is truly determined by chance.” *Id.* at 57 (emphasis added).

**B. Applying the dominant factor test, chance predominates over skill or knowledge for the Superior Skill devices under any reasonable definition of “outcome.”**

An amusement device must be registered with DIA if “the outcome is not primarily determined by skill or knowledge of the operator.” Iowa Code § 99B.53(1). Having established that the word “primarily” creates a dominant factor test, the next question is what “outcome” means. DIA’s declaratory order equated outcome with actually winning a prize over an entire play session consisting of multiple play screens. But even if the Court concludes the analysis is more compartmentalized, the skill and knowledge components of the Superior Skill devices do not predominate.

At the outset, the Court should reject out of hand the contention that the outcome of an amusement device is an intangible and subjective sense of fun. As one court noted almost ninety years ago, that standard is simply unworkable and implausible when it comes to quasi-gambling devices:

It is contrary to reason that players would continue to idle away their time and waste their money operating the machine merely for the so-called amusement; if the playing is for the purpose of seeing the pictures or reading the humorous remarks, or of having a pretended “fortune” told, it must be admitted that such entertainment—which is of the most elementary type—must necessarily soon grow monotonous and fail of its purpose. It is almost inconceivable that persons of any intelligence could be induced to spend money for something . . . through the prospect of getting something of no value. Such contention does

violence to every conception of reason, and is contrary to man's natural inclination.

*Harvie v. Heise*, 148 S.E. 66, 68 (S.C. 1929). Furthermore, if the outcome is merely whether the player enjoys themselves, any slot machine—even one with a random number generator—would be permitted outside of licensed casinos (as long as it is registered with DIA) because the player knows he or she will have fun playing it. That can't be what the legislature meant in drafting section 99B.53(1).

Nor can a device's "outcome" mean simply that the player chooses not to play. The choice not to play is a *player* outcome, not a device outcome, and section 99B.53(1) focuses on device outcomes. *See* Iowa Code § 99B.53(1) (regulating any "device . . . where the outcome is not primarily determined by skill or knowledge"). Further, if "outcome" includes choosing not to play, even slot machines could be knowledge-based amusement devices because each casino patron can access slot machine game rules and overall payout percentages before expending any money. *See* Iowa Admin. Code r. 491—11.9(4) (requiring casinos to post "[t]he actual aggregate payout percentage . . . of all slot machines in operation"); *McKee v. Isle of Capri Casinos, Inc.*, 864 N.W.2d 518, 520–21 (Iowa 2015) (describing how a player accesses the rules of an individual slot machine

game). A player could view the rules of a slot machine game or see the aggregate payout percentage and decide he or she doesn't want to play for any number of reasons—but under Banilla Games's theory, if the player does so, the “outcome” of that slot machine is now a knowledge-based choice *not to* play, not a chance event. That is an untenable result the legislature could not have intended.

Ruling out those facially implausible meanings of “outcome” leaves DIA's holistic interpretation: “outcome” includes considering a player's gain or loss over an entire play session, from when the player deposits money to when they redeem any remaining credits. The outcome does not turn solely on solving a puzzle, but on both the puzzle task *and* what prize is awarded. That view is reasonable and should lead the Court to affirm DIA's declaratory order.

1. “*Outcome*” *measures the result of an entire play session.* Chapter 99B's context and purpose support DIA's interpretation: that the word “outcome” in section 99B.53 measures an entire play session. *See Den Hartog v. City of Waterloo*, 847 N.W.2d 459, 462 (Iowa 2014) (exemplifying the Court's holistic approach to statutory interpretation that includes considering context and purpose).



Unquestionably, the Court's task is to interpret section 99B.53 in accordance with the legislature's intent. *Myria Holdings*, 892 N.W.2d at 348. The legislature illuminated its intent by subjecting amusement devices to three important restrictions. First, section 99B.53 requires any device where chance predominates to be registered. Iowa Code § 99B.53(1). Second, the number of permissible registered amusement devices statewide is capped, and the universe of possible device locations is limited. *Id.* § 99B.53(2), (6). Finally, only individuals over the age of twenty-one may participate, just as with other forms of gambling in Iowa. *See id.* § 99B.57(1)–(2); *see also id.* §§ 99D.11(7) (pari-mutuel wagering at racetracks), 99F.9(4)–(5) (casino gambling), 99G.30(3) (lottery). The registration requirement, the registration cap, and the age limitation demonstrate the legislature intended to be cautious about allowing amusement devices that resemble gambling to proliferate. Interpreting the word “outcome” to encompass an entire play session is consistent with that concern.

Another important reason why “outcome” measures more than one play screen is that few if any players end their interaction with the machine that soon. *Cf. City of Moberly v. Deskin*, 155 S.W. 842, 844 (Mo. Ct. App.

1913) (“[I]n the vast majority of instances the dealings between the player and the machine . . . consist of more than a single play.”). Over a century ago, a Missouri court considering whether a particular machine was an illegal gambling device held “as unsound the view . . . that each play constituted a separate and distinct transaction in the sense of ending the relation of the player to the machine.” *Id.* Instead, the court recognized the machine “was designed and intended to include a number of plays,” thereby convincing the player to make more than one wager “in the hope that the *next* time [it] . . . would bring him something for nothing.” *Id.* at 844–45 (emphasis added); *accord Harvie*, 148 S.E. at 68 (adopting the rule that a player does not count on “immediate returns for the coin deposited but on the chance that a profit will be shown on the next play”).

Iowa, too, encountered some devices in the early twentieth century that were constructed with “[g]reat ingenuity” in an attempt to avoid relevant law at the time. *State v. Doe*, 263 N.W. 529, 529 (Iowa 1935); *see also Wiley*, 232 Iowa at 444–45, 3 N.W.2d at 621 (noting inventors’ ingenuity in constructing a device “so as to cloak [its] real character”); *State ex rel. Manchester v. Marvin*, 233 N.W. 486, 486–87 (Iowa 1930) (pointing out “a near approach to the prohibitive line”); *State v. Ellis*, 206 N.W. 105, 106

(Iowa 1925) (describing a machine with an additional feature that “furnish[ed] the allurement of the game”). Machines were commonly designed to induce multiple plays or multiple coin deposits in succession.

Two Iowa cases from that era specifically addressed the likelihood of repeated play. In *Marvin*, the Court concluded an independent accessory to what was otherwise just a vending machine served only one apparent purpose: “to induce a larger deposit of nickels in the slot than would otherwise ensue.” *Marvin*, 233 N.W. at 486. Likewise, in *Ellis*, the Court discussed a machine that allowed players to preview what would be dispensed next—which induced players to deposit multiple coins because a larger return was “sure to come if the lever is pulled and the nickel dropped a few times successively.” *Ellis*, 206 N.W. at 106. In other words, players did not play just for the first opportunity but for the ones that followed. *See id.*

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